RECEIVED

DEC 22 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5251 (S.C. Ct. App. withdrawn, substituted and refiled October 8, 2014)

Appellate Case No. 2012-212430

THE STATE, PETITIONER,

v.

MICHAEL WILSON PEARSON,.....RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

Other Counsel of Record:
Kathrine H. Hudgins, Esquire
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing Respondent's conviction where the Court misapplied the standard for reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Wilson Pearson (Respondent) was indicted by the grand jury of Clarendon County for attempted murder, first-degree burglary, armed robbery, grand larceny, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On May 14, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury with his co-defendant Victor Weldon. Harry Devoe, Esquire, represented Appellant, John and Laura Knobloch, Esquires, represented Weldon, and Solicitor Ernest A. Finney, III, and Assistant Solicitor Jason Corbett represented the State. The attempted murder charge was not submitted to the jury. The jury found Appellant guilty of all other charges, and the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., sentenced him to thirty years' imprisonment for first-degree burglary, thirty years' imprisonment for armed robbery, five years' imprisonment for grand larceny, twenty years' imprisonment for kidnapping, and five years' imprisonment for the weapon charge. The burglary and armed robbery sentences were consecutive and all other sentences were concurrent, for an aggregate sentence of sixty years. (App.pp.423-24.) Respondent timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his convictions and sentence and subsequently submitted a brief in support of his appeal. Petitioner (the State) filed a brief in response. On July 30, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion in which it reversed Respondent's convictions. State v. Pearson, Op. No. 5251 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 30, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 30 at 33). The State submitted a petition for rehearing on August 12, 2014. The Court of Appeals granted the petition for rehearing on October 8, 2014, and issued State v. Pearson, Op. No. 5251 (S.C. Ct. App. withdrawn, substituted and refiled October 8, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 40 at 38). The State again submitted a petition for

rehearing on this new opinion, which the Court denied on November 21, 2014. This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals, submitted on behalf of the State, now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 15, 2010, Edward “Slick” Gibbons (Victim) walked out of his garage and was jumped by three men who came out of the storage room of his carport. (App.p.31, line 16; p.36, line 20-p.38, line 9.) The men beat him, robbed him, and stole his vehicle. (App.p.43, lines 23-25; p.44, lines 6-13; p.46, lines 15-21; p.47, lines 19-22; p.48, lines 10-18; p.50, lines 12-15.) Appellant and his co-defendant, Victor Weldon, were arrested and charged with attempted murder, first-degree burglary, armed robbery, grand larceny, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (App.pp.426-27.)

At trial, Victim testified he left his house around 6:15 or 6:20 a.m., came out of the garage, and bent over to put on his shoes. (App.p.30, line 18; p.37, lines 8-23.) At that point, three men came out of the storage room of his carport and jumped him. (App.p.38, lines 1-9.) The men were black and wore masks. (App.p.41, lines 5-18.) Victim testified the men robbed him of approximately \$840 and then beat him, asking where the rest of the money was. (App.p.43, lines 6-25; p.48, lines 10-18.) He described how the men sat on him, kicked him, stomped on his chest and stomach, and wrapped duct tape around his face. (App.p.46, line 15-p.47, line 1.) Victim testified that one man had what he thought was a gun and he heard one man ask if they were going to shoot him. (App.p.46, lines 10-16; p.48, lines 10-11; p.60, lines 3-9.) After being beaten and robbed, he heard the men leaving and got up to see what kind of car they were driving.

(App.p.50, lines 9-15.) He heard someone say, “He’s up, he’s up,” and saw one of the men jump out of the back of Victim’s El Camino and run back in to hit him. (App.p.50, lines 16-19; p.52, lines 1-3; p.54, line 25-p.55, line 5.) Victim testified the value of his El Camino was approximately \$6,500. (App.p.58, lines 18-20.) He testified he was taken to Clarendon Memorial Hospital by ambulance and then transported via helicopter to Columbia, where he spent more than a week in intensive care and then a week in a rehabilitation center. (App.p.61, lines 2-17.)

Victim’s wife, Kay Gibbons, testified next. (App.p.94, line 17.) On the morning of the incident she was in bed, heard the doorbell, and opened the door to find her husband bloody, wrapped in tape, and barely able to stand. (App.p.96, lines 12-25.) She called her daughter, who called 911 and came to their house. (App.p.98, line 16-p.99, line 9.) Gibbons testified that law enforcement and an ambulance arrived at the scene and Victim was taken to the hospital. (App.p.100, line 2-p.101, line 25.)

The State called Cecil “Mac” Eaddy, Jr., to testify about finding Victim’s car in the road. (App.p.115, line 19-p.117, line 24.) He found the car running with the passenger door open at about 6:40 a.m. about a mile and a half from Victim’s store. (App.p.120, lines 1-9.) Eaddy described how he pulled the car out of the road and turned it off, took the keys to Victim’s store, and drove one of Victim’s employees back to the car so the employee could drive it to Victim’s store. (App.p.120, line 15-p.121, line 24.)

Ricky Richards, an investigator with the Clarendon County Sheriff’s Office, testified that he processed the vehicle after it had been found and taken to Victim’s store. (App.p.125, line 23-p.127, line 5; p.128, lines 2-7.) He found fingerprints on the rear quarter of the driver’s side and the driver’s side door jamb and sent them to Marie Hodge,

a fingerprint technician with the Sumter Police Department. (App.p.128, line 10-p.131, line 6.) Richards admitted on cross-examination that there was no way to tell when the fingerprints were left. (App.p.138, lines 6-12.)

Next the State called Investigator Thomas “Lin” Ham of the Clarendon County Sheriff’s Office. (App.p.140, line 15.) He testified that he was called to the scene on May 15, 2010, and had known Victim and Gibbons all his life. (App.p.141, lines 20-25.) He testified that his assignment was to assist and oversee Investigator Kenneth Clark’s investigation because Clark was a new investigator. (App.p.142, lines 9-19.) Ham identified photographs from the crime scene showing black duct tape, blood spots, and Victim at the hospital with the tape still wrapped around his head. (App.p.145, lines 2-25; p.146, lines 1-9.) He described how he wore gloves and helped the nurse get the tape off Victim’s head. (App.p.146, lines 10-17.) After removing the tape, Ham testified that he put it in a bag and turned it over to Investigator Clark as evidence so it could be taken to SLED and processed. (App.p.146, lines 20-25.) Next, Ham testified to taking fingerprints from Appellant. (App.p.149, lines 12-25.) The State moved Appellant’s fingerprint card into evidence and it was admitted without objection. (App.p.150, line 19-p.151, line 1.) Ham testified regarding Investigator Clark’s interview with Appellant, for which Ham was present. (App.p.153, lines 19-23.) He testified that Appellant adamantly denied knowing Victim and said he did not know where Victim lived, had never been to Victim’s home or place of business, and had never come into contact with Victim’s vehicle. (App.p.154, lines 9-19.)

Next, the State called Marie Hodge, the fingerprint examiner for the Sumter Police Department. (App.p.162, line 11-p.163, line 19.) The trial court qualified her as

an expert in the field of fingerprint identification without objection. (App.p.166, lines 21-25.) She testified that she examined the latent print send by Richards and determined it was made by Appellant's right thumb based on a comparison with Appellant's fingerprint card. (App.p.174, line 10-p.175, line 18.) On cross-examination, Hodge admitted there was no way to age or date a fingerprint. (App.p.179, lines 14-19.)

The State called Kenneth Clark, the investigator in charge of the case. (App.p.196, line 18-p.198, line 4.) He testified Victim described the men who robbed and beat him as three black males, of mid age and medium build, who wore dark clothing and masks. (App.p.206, lines 20-25; p.208, lines 14-19.) Clark verified that a fingerprint lifted from the rear quarter panel of Victim's stolen vehicle matched Appellant. (App.p.211, line 10-p.212, line 13.) He also testified concerning his interview with Appellant, confirming Investigator Ham's earlier testimony that Appellant denied having been around Victim's property or vehicle. (App.p.213, lines 9-17.) The State then asked Clark to describe why Appellant was charged with each of the six charges he faced. (App.p.214, line 14-p.217, line 17.)

During Clark's investigation, he discovered Richard Gamble, a landscaper who verified that Appellant had previously been to Victim's house because he had taken Appellant with him to the home on several occasions to do landscaping. (App.p.224, line 22-p.225, line 7.) Although Appellant and his co-defendant Weldon claimed not to know each other, Investigator Clark testified he discovered that both men were at the South Carolina Vocational Rehabilitation Center (Voc Rehab) at the same time. (App.p.226, lines 3-25.) The State called John Hornsby to verify that Appellant and Weldon had

worked together at Voc Rehab from December 9-12, 2008. (App.p.283, line 5-p.286, line 16.)

The State called Richard Gamble, the landscaper who claimed to have taken Appellant to Victim's house to do yard work. (App.p.270, line 10-p.272, line 5.) Gamble testified that Appellant had worked with him on landscaping projects at Victim's home and next door at Victim's son's home. He estimated they spent about a week at both homes in the spring of 2010, trimming and cleaning up. He further testified that Appellant had been in Victim's garage to get tools while they were working. (App.p.272, line 3-p.274, line 1.)

After the State rested, Appellant moved for a directed verdict, arguing the only evidence was a fingerprint on the vehicle and that it could have gotten there at any time. (App.p.331, line 25-p.333, line 6.) The trial court denied the directed verdict motion, finding the fingerprint, coupled with Appellant's statement that he had never had contact with Victim's home or vehicle, was sufficient evidence to send the case to the jury. (App.p.340, lines 5-p.343, line 3.) Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, grand larceny, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and the trial court sentenced him to a total of sixty years' imprisonment. (App.p.414, line 22-p.415, line 9; p.423, line 25-p.424, line 7.)

CERTIORARI

The State submits there are special and important reasons for this Court to exercise its discretion to grant certiorari and to review the decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter pursuant to Rule 242(b), SCACR. Specifically, the State submits

the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with prior decisions of this Court, most recently this Court's decision to reverse the Court of Appeals in State v. Lane, Op. No. 5175 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Oct. 9, 2013), in that the Court of Appeals misapplied the standard of review. The Court of Appeals misapplied the specific standard for reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict when conducting its review of the evidence supporting the trial court's decision to submit Respondent's case to the jury. For this reason, the State respectfully asks this Court to grant this petition for a writ of certiorari and issue an opinion which reverses the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's denial of Respondent's motion for a directed verdict.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing Respondent's conviction where the Court misapplied the standard for reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict.

In reversing Respondent's conviction, the Court of Appeals recognized that on appeal from the denial of a directed verdict it must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must find the case was properly submitted to the jury if there is any direct evidence, or substantial circumstantial evidence, which reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt. However, the Court of Appeals then misapplied the standard of review based in part on a misapprehension of the scope of this Court's decisions in State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000) and State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004).¹

¹The Court also based its decision on State v. Bennett, 408 S.C. 302, 758 S.E.2d 743 (Ct. App. 2014) (*cert. granted*).

In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals focused on the State's "burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the person who committed the charged crime," quoting State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, 749 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2013) (*rev'd by State v. Lane*, Op. No. 5175 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Oct. 9, 2013) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 43 at 17). It then found "there was insufficient evidence tying [Respondent] to the crimes." Despite describing the substantial circumstantial evidence tending to link Respondent to the crimes, the Court of Appeals found such evidence "left the jury to speculate as to [Respondent's] guilt." Relying on Mitchell, Arnold and Bennett, the Court of Appeals held the trial court erred by denying Respondent's directed verdict motion. The State disagrees and submits the Court of Appeals' expansive reading of the above cases, and its improper focus on the burden of proof required to sustain a conviction rather than the level of evidence required to sustain a challenge at the directed verdict stage, led it to misapply the standard of review for the trial court's denial of a directed verdict.

This Court has explained that a trial court is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). In contradiction to Cherry's holding, the Court of Appeals based its opinion on the mere possibility of an alternate hypothesis. The Court found that because "there was testimony that [Victim] regularly parked his vehicle in a public lot adjacent to his store" and Appellant "assisted with a five-day landscaping project at [Victim's] residence," Appellant "**may** have had an opportunity to come in contact with the vehicle before the crimes occurred." Pearson at 45 (emphasis added). Regardless of whether this alternate hypothesis was reasonable or fantastical, the State's

evidence did not need to exclude this alternate hypothesis in order for this case to be properly presented to the jury.

Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, **a rational trier of fact** could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

In regard to directed verdicts, the United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to **the responsibility of the trier of fact** fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, **to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319 (emphasis added). Notably, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the responsibility to weigh the evidence falls exclusively to the jury, not the trial judge and not the appellate court.

This Court recently articulated the following concerning the standard of review:

The trial court should grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to the guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. On the other hand, **a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.**

State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (quoting Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (emphasis added) (citations & internal quotation marks omitted)). This is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's observation concerning circumstantial evidence:

Admittedly, circumstantial evidence may in some cases point to a wholly incorrect result. Yet this is equally true of testimonial evidence. In both instances, **a jury is asked to weigh** the chances that the evidence correctly points to guilt against the possibility of inaccuracy or ambiguous inference. In both, the jury must use its experience with people and events in weighing the probabilities. If the jury is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, we can require no more.

Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 137-38 (1955) (emphasis added) *cited with approval in* Jackson, 443 U.S. at 317 n.9.

The problem in the present case is that the Court of Appeals required more than what Jackson, Hepburn, and Holland require. The Court indicated Appellant may have come in contact with the vehicle because Victim parked it in a public lot adjacent to his auto parts store and Appellant assisted in a landscaping project at Victim's home. However, Appellant himself vehemently denied coming in contact with the vehicle at any time, whether during the landscaping project (which he denied entirely) or in the public lot at Victim's store. Appellant adamantly stated he had never been in contact with the vehicle and had never been to Victim's place of business. (App.p.154, lines 14-17.) The jury was not irrational to conclude the evidence established Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, the Court of Appeals's conclusion to the contrary amounts to a requirement that the State prove guilt to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis—a requirement that is not part of the jurisprudence of this State.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals determined there was insufficient evidence tying Appellant to the crimes. The Court recognized the most damaging evidence was Appellant's fingerprint on the rear of Victim's vehicle, where one of Victim's assailants was seen exiting the vehicle. Yet, the Court also found "there was **other evidence** showing [Appellant] may have had an opportunity to come in contact with the vehicle before the crimes occurred." Pearson at 45 (emphasis added). Specifically, the Court stated there was testimony that Victim parked his car in a public lot adjacent to his auto parts store and that Appellant assisted in a landscaping project at Victim's home. However, this logic illustrates the folly of the Court's approach.

Evidence was also presented that the vehicle was parked in the lot beside the store every day Victim was working. Thus, the jury could have concluded it was likely the vehicle was parked at the store on the days the landscaping project took place at Victim's home, making it impossible for the fingerprint to have been placed during the project. Indeed, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, this evidence eliminates either one or the other alternative hypothesis conjured by the Court for explaining the fingerprint in a way other than the reasonable explanation the jury concluded was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence presented during trial—when viewed in the proper context—was substantial circumstantial evidence and was sufficient to allow the charges to be submitted to the jury for resolution. Just because the jury might not have believed the State's evidence that Victim's vehicle was parked at the store every day and may have instead believed the vehicle was at his home during the time Appellant did landscaping work, this would not be enough to disregard the favorable evidence at the directed verdict stage.

This is particularly true given Appellant's own statement to Investigator Kenneth Clark. Appellant stated that he was not familiar with Victim, had never been around any of his property **or vehicle**, did not know where he lived, and had never been to his house. Therefore, the Court of Appeal's speculation, that Appellant **may** have had an opportunity to come in contact with the vehicle before the crimes occurred simply because Victim parked his vehicle in a public lot and because Appellant assisted in landscaping work at Victim's house, is in direct contradiction to Appellant's own statement. He denied the landscaping project entirely and adamantly stated he had never been in contact with the vehicle and had never been to Victim's place of business.

The Court of Appeals also placed emphasis on the fact that the State offered no "timing evidence" to contradict reasonable explanations for the presence of the fingerprint, thus forcing the jury to have to guess whether the fingerprint was made at the time of the crimes. In State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 568, 748 S.E.2d 265, 273 (Ct. App. 2013), the Court of Appeals stated "a directed verdict is not required merely because the State cannot conclusively show the defendant was at the crime scene at the relevant time." The Court cited the Supreme Court's finding in State v. Frazier, 386 S.C. 526, 532, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613 (2010), that "the holdings in Arnold, Martin, and Schrock did not alter or increase 'the sufficiency of evidence standard a trial court is to apply in a case based on circumstantial evidence.'" Id. "The [Frazier] court explained this is because those holdings were based on the State's failure to present *any* evidence placing the defendant at the scene, not the State's inability to provide conclusive proof on that point." Id. at 568-69, 748 S.E.2d at 273. While the State did not conclusively prove Appellant's fingerprint placed him at the scene of the crimes at the time the crimes were committed, it

did conclusively prove he touched the vehicle by introducing fingerprint evidence matching him to the print found on the rear quarter of the vehicle. Combined with Victim's testimony that one assailant rode in the back of the El Camino where the fingerprint was found, and Appellant's own statement that he had never come in contact with the vehicle, this was certainly not a failure to present *any* evidence as in the above cases. Thus, sufficient evidence existed to submit the case to the jury.

It is apparent the Court of Appeals engaged in speculation and weighed the evidence of the fingerprint, rather than simply considering its existence, to determine whether it reached the level of substantial circumstantial evidence. The Court emphasized the existence of other "reasonable explanations for the presence of the fingerprint," thus concluding the jury could only guess whether the fingerprint was made at the time of the crimes. This conflates the standard of review for directed verdict with the standard jury charges for direct and circumstantial evidence.

Over fifty years ago, in State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 328, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955), this Court addressed the distinction between a trial judge's consideration of circumstantial evidence at the directed verdict stage of a trial and a jury's consideration of circumstantial evidence during deliberations. By comparison, regarding the jury's consideration of circumstantial evidence, this Court instructed:

[I]t is necessary that every circumstance relied upon by the state be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and that all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and, taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused **to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis**. It is not sufficient that they create a probability, though a strong one; and if, assuming them to be true, they may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis which does not include the guilt of the accused, the proof has failed.

Id. (emphasis added). Regarding the trial judge’s consideration of circumstantial evidence at the directed verdict stage, this Court explained:

But on a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is **his duty to submit the case to the jury** if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.

Id. at 329, 89 S.E.2d at 926 (emphasis added).

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