ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

JAN 22 2015

Certiorari to Clarendon County

S.C. Supreme Court

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

MICHAEL WILSON PEARSON,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. ~~2012-212430~~

2014-002741

---

AMENDED RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**I N D E X**

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

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review and correctly found that the trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for burglary first degree, armed robbery, grand larceny, kidnapping and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime when the only evidence linking Respondent to the crime scene was a fingerprint found on the victim's vehicle that was stolen at the time of the incident and found about twenty minutes later abandoned in the road with the motor running and evidence that Respondent denied knowing the victim and where he lived despite testimony that Respondent had helped with landscaping work for the victim and his son

At the close of the State's case both Pearson and the co-defendant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal citing State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000), State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004) and State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011). (R. pp. 325 – 339). Counsel for Pearson argued, "There is no evidence of my client being at the scene of the crime, no direct evidence, -- no eyewitnesses and no forensic evidence. My client lived a block and half from the store. My client walks the neighborhood and recently put the fingerprint on the – at the store and no other place." (R. p. 328, lines 9-14). The judge denied the motion. The judge stated:

As far as Mr. Pearson's fingerprint the evidence in this case that has come before this jury that I recall he told the police officer he did not know Mr. Gibbons. He had not been at his house or his place of business. His vehicle was taken that morning. Within 30 minutes the vehicle was found abandoned a mile and a half or two miles away. The vehicle was processed and was carried to the auto parts place and processed. That day his fingerprint was found on the vehicle. And I certainly think at least that's sufficient evidence for the jury to make a determination of guilt or innocence in this case. And I respectfully deny your motion.

(R. p. 149, lines 5-17).

The State presented evidence that Pearson's fingerprint was found on the outside of Gibbons' car recovered, abandoned, on a road about twenty minutes after the burglary, robbery, assault and

kidnapping. The evidence is insufficient to place Respondent at the scene of the crime. The judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal.

In Bostick, 392 S.C. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial “if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000); see also State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 327, 332, 468 S.E.2d 626, 629 (1996). “The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict...” State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452–53 (1984). Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt. Id. at 133, 322 S.E.2d at 452 (citing State v. Manis, 214 S.C. 99, 51 S.E.2d 370 (1949)). “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 543, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978) (citing State v. Massey, 267 S.C. 432, 229 S.E.2d 332 (1976)). On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 602, 533 S.E.2d 572, 574 (2000).

The State’s case against Respondent was based entirely on circumstantial evidence: 1.) the fingerprint found on the outside of the car; 2.) evidence that Pearson denied knowing Gibbons and denied being at his house despite evidence that he had done landscaping work for Gibbons and his son in the past and 3.) evidence that Pearson denied knowing the co-defendant despite the fact that seventeen months prior they had both been at vocational rehabilitation. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there is not any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of Pearson or from which is guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. The fingerprint is insufficient to place Pearson at the scene of the crime. There was a

total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged. The judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal.

A criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict if the State fails to place him at the scene of the crime. State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004); State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000). If the State's evidence "merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty," the court must direct a verdict in his favor. State v. Schrock, 238 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452 (1984). The three pieces of circumstantial evidence relied upon by the State: 1.) the fingerprint; 2.) Pearson's denial of knowing Gibbons or where he lived; and 3.) Pearson's denial of knowing the co-defendant, barely raise a suspicion. The fingerprint could have been placed on the outside of the car before or after the incident and fails to place Respondent at the scene of the incident. (R. p. 134, lines 6-9). The fact that Pearson denied knowing Gibbons or where he lived fails to place Pearson at the scene of the incident. The fact that Pearson and the co-defendant were in vocational rehabilitation at the same time seventeen months earlier fails to establish that the two knew one another or acted together at the scene of the incident. The evidence fails to place Pearson at the scene of the burglary, robbery, kidnapping, and larceny. Pearson was entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal.

This Court has found fingerprint evidence, even combined with other suspicious factors, insufficient for submission to the jury when the State fails to place the defendant at the scene of the crime, State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389, 605 S.E.2d 529, 530-31 (2004), or fails to connect the placement of the fingerprint to the time the crime was committed, State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000). Courts in other jurisdictions have held that fingerprints found on movable items or items open to the public are insufficient to sustain the conviction without evidence that the fingerprints were placed at the time of the crime. See C.E. v. State, 665 So.2d 1097, 1098 (Fla.

Dist. Ct. App. 1996) (“Where fingerprint evidence found on the shattered glass of a vehicle is relied upon to establish identity, the evidence must be such that the print could have been made only when the crime was committed.”); Lee v. State, 640 So.2d 126, 127 (1994) (holding fingerprints on broken window pane at burglarized church were insufficient to sustain a conviction); State v. Bass, 278 S.E.2d 209, 212 (N.C. 1981) (“[W]hen the State relies on fingerprints found at the scene of the crime, in order to withstand motion for nonsuit, there must be substantial evidence of circumstances from which the jury can find that the fingerprints could have been impressed only at the time the crime was committed.”); United States v. Strayhorn, 743 F.3d 917, 924 (2014) (evidence of a fingerprint on movable object like duct tape insufficient without evidence as to when the fingerprint was placed). As correctly noted by the Court of Appeals, “Here, the most damaging evidence was Pearson's fingerprint on the rear of Gibbons' vehicle. However, there was other evidence showing Pearson may have had an opportunity to come in contact with the vehicle before the crimes occurred. For instance, there was testimony that Gibbons regularly parked his vehicle in a public lot adjacent to his store. Moreover, there was testimony that Pearson assisted with a five-day landscaping project at Gibbons' residence, and he could have come in contact with the vehicle at that time.” State v. Pearson, 410 S.C. 392, 401, 764 S.E.2d 706, 711 (Ct. App. 2014).

The circumstantial evidence presented by the State in the present case does not reasonably tend to prove Pearson's guilt and fails the Court's well settled directive that circumstantial evidence that is not substantial is insufficient to go to a jury. At best, the State's evidence barely raises a suspicion. As discussed above, a mere suspicion is not sufficient evidence for submission to the jury. The judge should have directed a verdict of acquittal on all charges. The Court of Appeals, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State,

correctly found that the State failed to introduce any substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of Pearson or from which is guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. The State's petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

In the petition for writ of certiorari, the State asserts that the Court of Appeals misapplied the standard of review. The State asserts, "Here, the Court of Appeals seems both: (1) to have applied the wrong, more stringent, test identified by Littlejohn<sup>1</sup> to Respondent's case, and (2) to have substituted its own judgment in place of the jury to conclude that because some other hypothesis could possibly explain the circumstantial evidence tending to prove Respondent's identity as constituted a misapplication of the standard of review in both instances." (petition for writ of certiorari pp. 17-18). Contrary to the State's assertion, the analysis by the Court of Appeals does not require the State to prove guilt to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. Instead, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the State's evidence failed to place Pearson at the scene of the crime. "The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict and a corresponding duty is imposed on this Court." State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452-53 (1984). It was the duty of the Court of Appeals to reverse the conviction based upon the absence of evidence placing Pearson at the scene of the crimes.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review. The Court of Appeals correctly held, "Viewing all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there was insufficient evidence to submit the case to the jury. The recovered fingerprint directly tied Pearson to the stolen vehicle. Nonetheless, the fingerprint merely raised a suspicion of Pearson's guilt

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 89 S.E.2d 924 (1955).

because there was no additional evidence showing when the fingerprint was placed on the vehicle. Moreover, none of the other evidence presented by the State placed Pearson at the crime scene or established a relationship between Pearson and Weldon. For this reason, the jury could only have guessed Pearson was involved in the crimes.” State v. Pearson, 410 S.C. 392, 402, 764 S.E.2d 706, 712 (S.C. Ct. App. 2014).

The present case is distinguished from State v. Lane, 410 S.C. 505, 765 S.E.2d 557, 557 (2014), where this Court found that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt. Importantly, the evidence in Lane placed the defendant at the scene of the crime. A red Mitsubishi Gallant with paper tags and gray primer paint on the front fender was seen parked in the victim’s driveway. Lane acknowledged driving a red Mitsubishi Gallant with paper tags and gray primer paint on the front fender on the day of the burglary. Additionally, an unemployment agency document belonging to Lane was found in the victim’s driveway. The evidence in Lane constituted substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tended to prove guilt or from which guilt could be fairly and logically deduced.